1981

State of Utah v. Roy Hutchison : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant was charged by Amended Information with Forcible Sodomy; in that on or about the 18th day of October, 1980, in violation of Section 76-5-403, Utah Criminal Code, as amended, the Defendant engaged in a sexual act involving the genitals of one SCOTT HARRIS and the mouth of the Defendant without the consent of said SCOTT HARRIS.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Appellant was tried in the Fourth Judicial District Court of Utah County, the Honorable Allen B. Sorenson, Judge, on the 19th day of January, 1981, the Defendant having waived his rights to a jury trial, and said Court found the Defendant guilty as charged. Defendant was sentenced by the Court on March 13, 1981, to serve

1-15 years in the Utah State Prison. Notice of Appeal was filed on April 5, 1981.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant respectfully requests that the Court reverse the judgment of guilty entered in the District Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The State's Complaining Witness, SCOTT HARRIS, a minor, was a resident of a Boy's Ranch in Provo Canyon. On October 17, 1980, he had just returned from an out-of-town visit with his parents and had arrived late that night in the Provo Continental Trailways Bus building. (R., at 17) Defendant, ROY HUTCHISON, had spent the late evening of October 17, 1980, watching television and drinking liquor at his residence. Early in the morning of October 18, 1980, he walked about half a block to a telephone booth and made a phone call. There he met SCOTT HARRIS and invited him to stay the night at the Defendant's home. HARRIS admits he knew that the Defendant had been drinking heavily. (R., at 25)

The Defendant and the Complaining Witness spent some time drinking liquor and watching television at the Defendant's residence, before the Defendant passed out. (R., at 73-75) However, witnesses later found SCOTT HARRIS unclothed and huddled over a fire made of his own clothes outside.

SCOTT HARRIS'S further explanation of the incident is contained in a report made by the investigating officer of the Provo Police Department, ROBERT H. SMITH, October 18, 1980. (R., at 46-48) HARRIS indicated that the Defendant had dressed himself in women's clothing, and that he had got HARRIS "drunk" and that the Defendant had removed HARRIS'S clothing and had attempted to have anal intercourse with him. However at trial on January 19, 1981, HARRIS testified differently. At trial he claimed that the Defendant got him drunk, that HARRIS passed out and awoke when the Defendant attempted to perform fellatio on him. (R., at 20-22) When counsel for the Defendant attempted to have the Police Report introduced into evidence to impeach the credibility of the State's witness, the trial Court excluded the same on the basis of hearsay. (R., at 48-50) Defendant was then convicted.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

STATEMENTS OF A WITNESS CONTAINED IN A POLICE REPORT ARE ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE AT TRIAL FOR IMPEACHMENT PURPOSES.

A. In many jurisdictions Police Reports are admissible as substantive evidence under certain circumstances.

Numerous jurisdictions take the view that Police Reports, where properly qualified, are themselves admissible as substantive

evidence at Trial without the testimony of the recording Police Officer, provided that care is taken to assure the trustworthiness of the information contained therein. Johnson vs. State, 253 A.2d 206 (Del. 1969); State vs. Ing, 497 P.2d 575 (Haw. 1972); Wells vs. State, 261 N.E.2d 865 (Ind. 1970); State vs. Taylor, 486 S.W. 2d 239 (Mo. 1972); State vs. McGeary, 322 A.2d 830 (N.J. 1974); People vs. Foster, 261 N.E.2d 389 (N.Y. 1972); Comm. vs. Russell, 326 A.2d 303 (Penn. 1974); and Gamble vs. State, 383 S.W.2d 48 (Tenn. 1964). The general rule in such states is that the Courts will not allow the admission of anything in the report which would not be admissible if testified to by the maker of the report. That is, all personal observations made by a reporting officer and written in his report are admissible at Trial, although statements made to the Officer by third persons are admissible in only limited circumstances.

B. Utah allows the admission of Police Report contents at least for impeachment purposes.

1. The credibility of a witness may be drawn into question by his prior inconsistent statements.

Utah Code Annotated, 1953, Section 78-24-1, provides in part:

(I)n every case the credibility of the witness may be drawn into question, by the manner in which he testifies, by the character of his testimony, or by evidence effecting his charactor for truth, honesty or integrity, or by his motives, or by contradictory evidence ...

Certainly evidence of what the witness has previously stated to persons in authority constitutes contradictory evidence which will severely effect the credibility of a witness. Likewise Rule 20, of Utah Rules of Evidence, provides as follows:

Evidence Generally Affecting Credibility. Subject to Rules 21 and 22, for the purpose of impairing or supporting the credibility of a witness, any Party including the Party calling him may examine him and introduce extrinsic evidence concerning any statement or conduct by him and any other matter relevant upon the issues of credibility.

The obvious purpose of Rule 20 is to allow the liberal introduction of evidence to impair or support the credibility of a witness as the case may be. Whenever any evidence bearing on the credibility of a witness can be introduced from another source the reliability of a witness's testimony can be more clearly ascertained. One of the most frequent objections to the introduction of evidence about a witness's prior inconsistent statements is that the statement was told to a third party by means of an out-of-Court statement, and constitutes hearsay. Accordingly the first exception that the legislature of this State has made as to when hearsay evidence may in fact be introduced at Trial is contained in Rule 63, Utah Rules of Evidence:

Evidence of a statement which is made other than by a witness while testifying at the hearing offered to prove the truth of the matter stated is hearsay ev-

idence and inadmissible at Trial except: (1) Prior statements of witnesses. A prior statement of a witness, if the Judge finds that the witness had an adequate opportunity to perceive the event or condition which his statement narrates, describes or explains, provided that (a) it is inconsistent with his present testimony, or (b) it contains otherwise admissible facts which the witness denies having stated or has forgotten since the making of the statement, or (c) it will support testimony made by the witness in the present case when such testimony has been challenged. (Emphasis added)

Evidence of a witness's prior inconstant statements, when offered to impeach the credibility of the witness and not to prove the truth of the matters contained in such statements, are admissible under the very first exception to the hearsay rule.

2. A Policeman's Investigative Report made within the scope of his duty shortly after the occurrence of a crime is admissible at trial.

Rule 63 (15), Utah Rules of Evidence provides as follows:

Reports and findings of Public Officials. Subject to Rule 64 and except for traffic accident reports, factual data contained in written reports or findings of fact made by a Public Official of the United States or of a State or territory of the United States, if the Judge finds that the making thereof was within the scope of the duty of such official and that it was his duty (a) to perform the act reported, or (b) to observe the act, condition or event reported, or (c) to investigate the facts concerning the act, condition or event and to make findings or draw conclusions based upon such investigation.

This Rule clearly contemplates that findings of fact made by

an Officer acting within the scope of his duty as well as his conclusions based on his investigation are admissible as evidence at Trial under an exception to the Heresay Rule. The Rule indicates that the Judge has the discretion to allow the admission of such evidence if the information is in written reports or findings made by a Public Official within the scope of the duty of such Official. Police Reports qualify as admissible evidence under this exception except for traffic accident reports, which are expressly not admissible. Utah Code Annotated, 1953, Section 78-25-3, states:

Entries in public or other official books or records, made in the performance of his duty by a Public Officer of this State or by any other person in the performance of a duty specially enjoined by law, are prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein.

Section 78-25-4, provides:

An entry made by an Officer or Board of Officers, or under the direction and in the presence of either, in the course of official duty is prima facie evidence of the facts stated in such entry.

If a Police Report is held to be a public record, or if the Police Report is made pursuant to his official duty, the facts contained in such reports are prima facie evidence. That is, the facts stated in such reports could be substantive evidence at Trial and are presumed to be true until controverted by better

evidence. However in the case at bar the evidence contained in the Police Report was not offered as substantive evidence to prove the truth of the matters stated therein. The Reports were simply offered in a legitimate attempt to impeach the credibility of a witness whose testimony at Trial differed in substantial respects from the testimony originally given to the Investigating Police Officers.

Utah Rules of Evidence, Rule 63 (13) provides:

Business Entries and the Like. Writtings offered as memoranda or records of acts, conditions or events to prove the facts stated therein, if the Judge finds that they were made in the regular course of business at or about the time of the act, condition or event recorded, and that the sources of information from which made and the method and circumstances of their preparation were such as to indicate their trustworthiness.

Courts and other jurisdictions, as noted above, have routinely allowed the admission of Police Records as substantive evidence. The business entries exception is one of the catagories under which Courts allow the admission of Police Reports at trial. Where the Police Report is prepared pursuant to the regular course and proceEDURE of the Police Department, and was taken at or about the time of the act, condition or event recorded, and were made under reasonably trustworthy circumstances, the contents of said Police Report should be

admissible as an exception to the Hearsay Rule.

C. The Trial Court abused its discretion in excluding the Police Report and Officer's testimony regarding the witnesses prior inconsistent statements.

In State vs. Young, 516 P.2d 1398 (Utah 1973) the Supreme Court of this State upheld the Defendant's conviction for Robbery. The Court found that there was no error in admitting the prior inconsistent and extrajudicial statements of the Complaining Witness about the identification of the accused. The Complaining Witness had earlier told the Police that the Defendant was one of those involved in the Robbery, and that the witness had known him for about five years. However at a later lineup the Witness stated he was unable to identify the Defendant as being present at the scene of the crime. The Supreme Court upheld the questioning at Trial by the Prosecutor of the Witness as to his extrajudicial conversations with the Police Officer under Rules 20 and 63 (1), Utah Rules of Evidence.

In the case at bar the Complaining Witness also had prior extrajudicial conversations with Police Officers which he later contradicted. The Trial Court should have exercised it's discretion to allow the impeachment of the credibility of this witness, because of this change in testimony. When the State's

Complaining Witness, SCOTT HARRIS, made his report to the Police Officer on October 18, 1980, he alleged that the Defendant had attempted to perform anal intercourse with him, but made no mention of any purported incident involving the Defendant's mouth and the Complaining Witness's genitals. Conversely at Trial the State's Complaining Witness testified that he awoke finding the Defendant's mouth upon his genitals. (R., at 31) When counsel for the Defense asked the Complaining Witness about his prior statement to the Police Officers regarding the alleged anal intercourse, the Witness answered in the affirmative, but his answer was so indecisive that the Court did not require the Complaining Witness to explain it, (R., at 30). In other words, just at the point where the Complaining Witness began showing obvious signs of indecisiveness and uncertainty, the Trial Court required Defense Counsel to approach the matter from a different angle. The exclusion by the Trial Court of the proffered Police Report to impeach the credibility of the Complaining Witness was improper and prejudiced the Defendant.

In State vs Sibert, 310 P.2d 388 (Utah 1957), the Supreme Court considered a case where the Defendant had been convicted of Robbery. The Court ordered a new Trial because the Defendant's statement made to a Police Officer shortly after the crime was

admitted at Trial and offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted in such a statement. The Court said:

The term heresay is applied to testimony offered to prove facts which the witness has no personal knowledge, but which have been told to him by others. He is thus not testifying from his own knowledge or observation, but is acting as a conduit to relate that of others. The general rule, to which there are admittedly many exceptions, is that such testimony is not admissible on the ground that it lacks trustworthiness for two basic reasons: (1) The person who purports to know the facts is not stating them under oath; (2) he is not present for cross-examination. Other reasons assigned for its unreliability are the danger of inaccuracy in the witness relaying what he has been told, and the fact that the jury does not not have the opportunity to see the person whose declarations are offered as evidence. However it is not every instance in which a witness relates what he heard someone else say that he is purporting to represent that the statement he heard is true. The purpose of his testimony may be simply to prove that someone else has made a statement without regard to whether it be true or false. Testimony of this nature does not violate the Hearsay Rule since the witness is asserting under oath a fact he personally knows, that is, that the statement was made, and he is subject to cross-examination concerning such fact. 310 P.2d at 390-391 (Emphasis added)

It is true that statements in a Police Report made by a Third Party to the reporting Police Officer may not be asserted as evidence at trial for the truth of the matters stated by a said Third Party. That would be heresay. But the fact that the Third Party uttered such a statement is a fact which the recording Police Officer knows first hand, for he has personally heard the

statement. And when that same Third Party is testifying at Trial and his testimony differed substantially from his prior extrajudicial statement, this prior statement is admissible to show the variance in the witness's testimony at Trial. In the instant case the Complaining Witness made certain statements to the Investigating Provo City Police Officer shortly after the alleged incident. The statements were duly recorded in a written Police Report pursuant to the practices of the Provo City Police Department. (R., at 45, 48) Later the State's Complaining Witness purported to describe the same events at Trial, but the statements at Trial varied significantly from his statements which he made to the Investigating Police Officer, ROBERT H. SMITH, immediately after the alleged crime. Therefore the admission of OFFICER SMITH'S report for the limited purpose of impeaching the State's witness was proper. OFFICER SMITH was personally present in the court room and could be cross-examined by the State. The Trial Judge's decision to exclude said report constituted an arbitrary exercise of his discretion and artificially allowed the testimony of the State's Complaining Witness to stand unimpeached. Because the only evidence offered by the State as to the elements of the alleged crime was the testimony of SCOTT HARRIS, his credibility became of prime importance in determining whether or not any

competant evidence existed upon which the Trial Court could find the Defendant guilty.

In State vs. Urias, 609 P.2d 1326 (Utah 1980), this Court affirmed the Defendant's conviction of Aggravated Sexual Assault and Aggravated Burglary. The Court found that the testimony of the Policeman relating the statement of the Defendant's girlfriend about the Defendant was a legitimate effort to impeach and discredit the testimony of the girlfriend at trial. In DeBois vs. State, 197 P. 176 (Oak. 1921) the Supreme Court of Oaklahoma reversed and remanded for new trial the Defendant's conviction for Arson. The State's case rested almost entirely on circumstantial evidence buttressed by the testimony of one main witness. The Trial Court had sustained the objections on the part of the Prosecution to attempts by Defense Counsel to impeach this witness's credibility. The Court found that it was competant and proper for Defense Counsel to cross-examine the Complaining Witness about his prior contradictory or inconsistant statements made out of Court. So too, in the case at bar, the statements made by the Complaining Witness to the Police Officers immediately after the alleged incident varied significantly from his testimony at trial. Therefore admission of that Police Report containing said statements should have been admitted at Trial for the purpose

of impeaching the Witness's credibility. Utah Courts have likewise held that a witness's prior inconsistent statements made to a Police Officer may be introduced at Trial to discredit the witness's testimony. See State vs. Stockton, 310 P.2d 398 (Utah 1957).

In State vs. Mores, 192 P.2d 861 (Utah 1948) the Supreme Court affirmed a conviction of the Defendant for Murder. In that case the Defendant had cross-examined the State's medical witness and attempted to show that the witness had changed his theory as to the course of a bullet that had killed the deceased, between the time of the Preliminary Hearing and the time of Trial. The Trial Court then permitted the State's witness to read a part of his autopsy report in order to show that the witness had not changed his theory. This approach is consistent with the Rules stated above which allow the introduction of evidence impairing or supporting the credibility of a witness. In State vs. Herrera, 330 P.2d 1086 (Utah 1958) this Court found that the State's attempt to impeach the testimony of its own witness, a physician, by intimating that his earlier report was contrary to his oral testimony at Trial, without introducing the report into evidence, was prejudicial error. In the case at bar the Defense counsel sought to impeach the credibility, not of its own witness, but of

story. So we may recognize this third type of allowable contradiction, namely, the contradiction of any part of the witness's account of the background and circumstances of a material transaction, which as a matter of human experience he would not have been mistaken about if his story were true. (Emphasis added) 571 P.2d at 1355; citing Davenport vs. State, 519 P.2d 452, 454 (Alas. 1974)

Counsel for the Defense at the case at bar attempted at Trial to introduce prior extrajudicial statements by the State's Complaining Witnss which were inconsistant with his statements at Trial. These statements go to the heart of the issue of Defendant's guilt, for they were the only evidence which the State produced in support of attempting to prove the actual elements of the crime. Therefore these issues were not collateral, but constituted that heart of the State's case. The impeachment of the State's witness on these issues should have been allowed because he has given two different accounts of the occurances of the crime the Defendant has been charged with, which as a matter of human experience, he would not have been mistaken about if his story were true. Therefore impeachment of his testimony should have been allowed, and exclusion of such evidence by the Trial Court constitutes reversible error.

the State's main witness, and correctly sought admission into evidence of the Police Report containing the prior inconsistent statements of said witness. The Trial Court's wrongful exclusion of the Police Report for impeachment purposes crippled the ability of Defense Counsel to impeach the testimony of the State's Complaining Witness.

In State vs. Mitchell, 571 P.2d 1351 (Utah 1977) this Court held that the answers of a witness upon cross-examination of any irrelevant or collateral matter are conclusive and binding, and the witness may not be contradicted or impeached upon any immaterial or isolated matter at issue. The Supreme Court reversed the Defendant's conviction for Aggravated Robbery because the Trial Court had prohibited attempts by the Defense Counsel to question the credibility of the testimony of certain of State's witnesses, because they were under the influence of narcotics. The Court said:

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