1981

# State of Utah v. Roy Hutchison : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## POINT II

THE TRIAL JUDGE PROPERLY EXERCISED HIS  
DISCRETION BY EXCLUDING THE POLICE REPORT.

The trial judge found that the police report was

not admissible for impeachment purposes (Tr.49)--to prove that a contradictory statement had been made. The court noted Harris's uncertainty about nomenclature under examination (Tr.31) and specifically found him a credible witness, even under heated cross-examination (Tr.77). Whatever inconsistency there may have been was not of significant relevance or reliability, in the court's judgment, to impair the credibility of the prosecuting witness or require the admission of questionable evidence.

This court has consistently held that "the trial judge has superior knowledge as to the competency and effect which should be given evidence." Del Porto v. Nicolo, 27 Utah 2d 286, 495 P.2d 811 (1972). In addition, when the trial is to a judge, as here, and not to a jury, decisions about the admissibility of evidence are less stringently examined, since the judge is making his decisions on both the law and the facts. This court has said:

. . .when the trial is to the court, his rulings on evidence need not be subjected to quite such critical scrutiny as when it is to a jury, because in arriving at his conclusions upon the issues he will include in his consideration of them his knowledge and his judgment as to the competency, materiality and effect of evidence.

In re Baxter's Estate, 16 Utah 2d 284, 399 P.2d 442, 445 (1965). See also Super Tire Market, Inc. v. Rollins, 18

Utah 2d 122, 417 P.2d 132 (1966). The presumption is that the trial judge will be able to distill what is relevant from the evidence presented and offered.

Therefore, unless there is a clear showing that the trial judge has abused this discretion, his decisions should not be overturned. "This court has held that it will not disturb any decision within the discretion of the trial court, unless there is a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion." State v. Carlson, Nos. 16582, 16583 (Utah, July 31, 1981). Since the trial judge has great leeway in deciding what the facts are, as presented by the evidence, there is no clear showing that he abused his discretion in choosing to believe and give weight to certain facts while excluding others. See Salt Lake City v. United Park City Mine Co., 28 Utah 2d 409, 503 P.2d 850 (1972).

In order to reverse a verdict based on the erroneous exclusion of evidence, two things must be shown, as described in Rule 5 of the Utah Rules of Evidence:

A verdict or finding shall not be set aside, nor shall the judgment or decision based thereon be reversed, by reason of the erroneous exclusion of evidence unless (a) it appears of record that the proponent of the evidence either made known the substance of the evidence in a form and by a method approved by the judge, or indicated the substance of the expected evidence by questions

indicating the desired answers, and (b) the court which passes upon the effect of the error or errors is of the opinion that the excluded evidence would probably have had a substantial influence in bringing about a different verdict or finding.

Appellant has failed to satisfy these prerequisites. The evidence was not introduced in a form approved by the judge; instead, it was classified as hearsay. Nor did appellant indicate the substance of the expected evidence by his questions; in fact, he neglected to ask the questions necessary for a proper foundation for the evidence. Since there is no clear showing that there would have been a different result if the report had been admitted, as discussed below, the trial court's discretion should not be overturned.

### POINT III

IF EXCLUSION OF THE REPORT WAS ERROR, IT  
WAS HARMLESS ERROR.

Should this Court find that the trial court's refusal to admit the police report was error, such refusal did not prejudice the substantive rights of the appellant and thus does not justify reversal of the conviction. This Court has pointed out on numerous occasions that it "will not reverse criminal cases for mere error or irregularity." State v. Neal, 1 Utah 2d 122, 262 P.2d 756 (1953). Utah Code Ann. § 77-42-1 (1953), states in part:



If error has been committed, it shall not be presumed to have resulted in prejudice. The court must be satisfied that it has that effect before it is warranted in reversing the judgment.

Improper reception or rejection of evidence is not grounds for reversal if there is sufficient competent evidence to sustain the judgment. See Bonine v. Bonine, 367 P.2d 664 (Ariz. 1961).

In this case, appellant has failed to show that the result would have been different if the evidence has been admitted. The prosecuting witness's testimony is not denied or contradicted by appellant. Although appellant admitted inviting Harris home with him, he testified that he does not remember what happened that night (Tr.73,75). The prosecuting witness's testimony, on the other hand, is corroborated by several verified facts: Harris saw Hutchison in a dress and wig; in court Harris identified a dress and wig found in Hutchison's apartment as looking like those he saw Hutchison wearing; Harris testified that appellant pulled Harris's pants down and he ran out of the house in the middle of the night; Harris was found naked on appellant's lawn at five o'clock a.m.

Harris's testimony that the sodomy occurred was uncontradicted and even verified by circumstantial evidence. But even if there was proof that the event occurred as purportedly recorded in the police report, the act would still

constitute sodomy. Under the Utah statute, either unconsented anal or oral intercourse is forcible sodomy:

(1) A person commits sodomy when he engages in any sexual act involving the genitals of one person and the mouth or anus of another person, regardless of the sex of either participant.

Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-403 (1953) (emphasis added).

Therefore, even if the matter asserted could be proven, its exclusion would be harmless error because the act would still constitute a necessary element of the crime.

In State v. Simmons, upon finding that excluded hearsay evidence was admissible, the court gave a test for determining whether the exclusion was harmless:

We must review alleged error in conformity with 77-42-1, U.C.A. 1953, and may not interfere with a jury verdict, unless upon review of the entire record, there emerges error of sufficient gravity to indicate defendant's rights were prejudiced, in a substantial manner. There must be a reasonable probability there would have been a result more favorable to defendant, in the absence of error.

573 P.2d 341 (Utah 1977). The alleged error in this case is not of sufficient gravity to indicate that appellant's rights were prejudiced.

The exclusion, if error, would also be harmless error because appellant had other ways of attacking Harris's credibility. The trial court's ruling only excluded the police report; it did not prevent appellant from questioning

the witness's consistency and credibility in other ways. Appellant might have questioned Harris's knowledge of other anatomical terms or homosexual practices, to establish that Harris really did have more acquaintance with the subject than he seemed to have. But appellant did not. The burden was on him, not on the court or the state, to pursue all avenues which might discredit the witness. Since the police report was not appellant's only recourse, its exclusion was not of itself prejudicial and any error in excluding it is harmless. Appellant had ample opportunity to challenge appellant's prior statement and confusion. This was possible without the report and its exclusion was therefore harmless.

The conclusion this Court reached in State v. Urias, is fully apposite here:

The mandate of our statute [U.C.A. § 7-42-1 (1953)], and the policy firmly established in our decisional law, is that we do not upset the verdict of a jury merely because some error or irregularity may have occurred, but will do so only if it is something substantial and prejudicial in the sense that there is a reasonable likelihood that in its absence there would have been a different result.

609 P.2d 1326, 1329 (Utah 1980) (emphasis added). Respondent submits that even if the police report had been admitted, the discrepancy was so easily explainable and insignificant that

the trial judge would not have ruled differently. If there was error committed, it had no prejudicial effect upon appellant's rights. In short, the judge could easily have determined, with or without the police report, that the prosecuting witness's testimony was consistent and believable.

#### POINT IV

THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE VERDICT.

#### A

UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES, THE PROSECUTING WITNESS'S UNCORROBORATED TESTIMONY IS SUFFICIENT TO CONVICT.

Appellant's challenge of the sufficiency of the evidence is not unusual in a sexual assault case, because so much of the proof rests upon the testimony of the victim. In response to a similar challenge in State v. Ward, 10 Utah 2d 34, 347 P.2d 865 (1959), this Court said:

In regard to the general charge that the evidence does not support the verdict, the defendant argues that the conviction should be scrutinized with great care because it is a charge easy to make and hard to defend against; particularly so here because important parts of the state's case rest entirely upon the testimony of the prosecutrix. With that general proposition we are in accord.

But it also should be kept in mind that this offense is rarely committed in the presence of witnesses and often the conviction of the guilty could only be had upon the victim's testimony. It has often been held that if there is nothing inherently contradictory or incredible in her story a conviction may rest upon the victim's testimony alone.

Appellant stresses that testimony by Harris "was the only evidence at all presented by the State to prove the elements of the crime alleged." Appellant's Brief at 18-19. Yet, this court has specifically found that fact unpersuasive. In State v. Middelstadt, 579 P.2d 908 (Utah 1978), the court gave the basis on which it must deal with uncorroborated testimony:

In general, the common law supports the contention that a conviction may be sustained upon the uncorroborated testimony of the victim, and that such evidence is not insubstantial simply because the testimony is conflicting in some respects. As to the quality of the testimony given, it is settled that it must be so improbable that it is completely unbelievable before it is insufficient to uphold a conviction. We do not find that to be the case here.

Id. at 911 (emphasis added.). Consistent with the Ward and Middelstadt guidelines, there is in this case "nothing inherently contradictory or incredible" in the victim's story; nor is Harris's testimony "so improbaole that it is completely unbelievable." On the contrary, the circumstances surrounding the incident tend to support Harris's account.

Nor does the issue of consent apply here to invalidate Harris's testimony. The pertinent part of Utah Code Ann § 76-5-406 (1977), contains this definition of lack of consent:

An act of sexual intercourse, sodomy, or sexual abuse is without consent of the victim under any of the following circumstances:

(3) The victim has not consented and the actor knows the victim is unconscious, unaware that the act is occurring, or physically unable to resist; . . . .

(Emphasis added.) Harris's testimony that he was both unconscious and, later, physically unable to resist are corroborated by his conduct after the assault: he freed himself as soon as he could and fled the house. In his intoxicated condition he could not go far, but his immediate impulse was to leave. Harris was found a few hours later outside, not inside, the house, his condition verification of a hasty exit. In State v. Roberts, 91 Utah 117, 63 P.2d 585, 588 (1937), this Court concluded that the trial court "could properly consider the conduct of the [victim] towards the defendant after the commission of the assault as bearing on whether [he] consented." Hutchison does not deny that an act of sodomy took place; Harris's condition the next morning is certainly strong evidence that the act was not consensual.

B

ON APPEAL, EVIDENCE SHOULD BE VIEWED IN THE LIGHT MOST FAVORABLE TO CONVICTION.

At trial, the finder of fact found appellant guilty of forcible sodomy. On appeal, the evidence should be viewed in the light most favorable to that verdict. State v. Ward, 10 Utah 2d 34, 341 P.2d 865 (1959); State v. Berchtold,

11 Utah 2d 208, 357 P.2d 183 (1960). The finder of fact was in the best position to observe the facial expressions, mannerisms, and tone of voice of the witnesses, and thus was in the best position to weigh the evidence. Those kinds of judgments are difficult, if not impossible, to make on appeal.

Further, this court has determined that on appeal from conviction, the court must assume that the trial court believed those aspects of evidence and drew inferences that reasonably could be drawn therefrom in a light favorable to the verdict. State v. Erickson, 568 P.2d 750 (Utah 1977); State v. Gandee, 587 P.2d 1064 (Utah 1978). In other words, the strong presumption is that the trial verdict is correct. Appellant, to prevail, has the burden of proving that the verdict was unreasonable, and this he has failed to do.

Appellant, citing as error the trial court's refusal to admit the police report as evidence, attempts to undermine the prosecuting witness's credibility. Yet it is a well-settled axiom of criminal law in this state that the trial court is the sole judge of the credibility of witnesses. State v. Wilson, 565 P.2d 66 (Utah 1977); State v. Romero, 554 P.2d 216 (Utah 1976); State v. Mills, 530 P.2d 1272 (Utah 1975); State v. Sullivan, 6 Utah 2d 110, 307 P.2d 212 (1957). In a restatement of the standard of

review it would apply to claims of insufficiency such as appellant's, this court declared:

It is the exclusive function of the jury [fact-finder] to weigh the evidence and to determine the credibility of the witnesses, and it is not within the prerogative of this court to substitute its judgment for that of the fact-finder. This court should only interfere when the evidence is so lacking and insubstantial that reasonable men could not possibly have reached a verdict beyond a reasonable doubt.

State v. Lamm, 606 P.2d 229, 231 (Utah 1980) (emphasis added).

Thus, appellant's burden here is to show that the evidence was so clearly inconclusive or unsatisfactory that reasonable minds must have had reasonable doubts that the crime was committed. Appellant has not met that burden. This court even more emphatically set the standard appellant must meet in State v. Romero, supra:

This court has set the standard for determining sufficiency of evidence to require that it be so inconclusive or so inherently improbable that reasonable minds could not reasonably believe defendant had committed a crime. Unless there is a clear showing of lack of evidence, the [trial court] verdict will be upheld.

554 P.2d at 219 (emphasis added).

Respondent submits that in viewing the evidence in its entirety, as the trial court did, it is not "so inconclusive or so inherently improbable that reasonable minds"



could not convict appellant. On the contrary, the evidence was sufficient and substantial and, therefore, the verdict should be upheld. Appellant has not made "a clear showing of lack of evidence," as this court requires. The only "lack of evidence" appellant points to is his question of Harris's credibility. However, appellant's objection is without foundation on appeal, since judging the credibility of witnesses is a trial court responsibility. The trial judge specifically found Harris "quite a credible witness under heated and extensive cross-examination" (Tr.77). The testimony of the passerby who discovered Harris, of the examining police officer, of the officers who saw appellant and Harris at the bus station, of appellant's sister in regards to appellant's intoxication of the morning after, and the tangible evidence at the scene all corroborate the details of Harris's testimony. Harris's purported confusion with terminology falls far short of rendering his testimony "completely unbelievable," as required by this Court in Middlestadt, supra:

[I]t is settled that [the victim's uncorroborated testimony] must be so improbable that it is completely unbelievable before it is insufficient to uphold a conviction.

597 P.2d at 911 (emphasis added).

#### CONCLUSION

The trial court properly excluded from evidence a

police report on the basis that it was hearsay and did not qualify as an exception to the hearsay rule. If, arguendo, error was committed, it was harmless error which did not affect appellant's substantive rights.

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